IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA MAY 2 6 2016

		Frank A. McGuire Clerk
In re Ricardo P.	<u> </u>	Deputy
A minor.	No. S230923	3
PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,		
Plaintiff and Respondent,		
v.		
Ricardo P.,		
Defendant and Appellant.		

First Appellate District No. A144149 Alameda County Superior Court No. SJ14023676 Hon. Leopoldo E. Dorado, Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Megan Hailey-Dunsheath (Bar No. 230846) 1569 Solano Ave. #457 Berkeley, CA 94707 Megan.hailey.dunsheath@gmail.com Attorney for RICARDO P.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

In re Ricardo P.	
A minor.	No. S230923
PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

QUESTION PRESENTED

Did the trial court err by imposing an "electronics search condition" on the juvenile as a condition of his probation when that condition had no relationship to the crimes he committed but was justified on appeal as reasonably related to future criminality under *People v. Olguin* (2008) 45 Cal.4th 375, because it would facilitate the juvenile's supervision?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On September 18, 2014, a Santa Clara County Welfare and Institutions Code section 602 petition was filed alleging two felony violations of Penal Code section 459/460(a) (First Degree Burglary). (CT

18, 20.) ¹ The charges stemmed from two incidents that occurred between 10:00 am and noon on a single day. ² In the first incident, three people were seen entering a home through a sliding glass door. A resident of the home then came through the front door, and all three people left through the back door without taking anything. (CT 14, 122-124.) In the second incident, a neighbor saw two people break a sliding glass door to enter a house; a video recording also captured them breaking the door. (CT 12-13, 61, 68.) Several items of costume jewelry worth a total value of \$200 were taken. (CT 13, 58, 70.) Ricardo and two of his adult cousins were arrested soon afterwards. (CT 41, 52, 63.) Ricardo was positively identified by a witness to one of the break-ins. (CT 77.) Ricardo's two adult co-defendants were charged, pleaded guilty, and were sentenced to state prison for two and three years. (CT 140.)

On October 9, 2014, Ricardo admitted both counts. (CT 5, 8.) On November 4, 2014, the petition was transferred to Alameda County, Ricardo's county of residence. (11/4/2014 RT 2.) On December 15, 2014, Ricardo was made a ward of the court and placed on probation. (12/15/2014 RT 3.) Over defense objection, the probation conditions imposed included a requirement that Ricardo submit to a search of

¹ "CT" refers to the Clerk's Transcript on Appeal and "RT" to the Reporter's Transcript of Proceedings.

² These facts were taken from the probation reports and San Jose Police Department reports.

"electronics including passwords." (12/15/2014 RT 4; CT 148.)

On appeal, Ricardo challenged the imposition of this condition as unconstitutional and unreasonable under the test set forth in *People v. Lent* (1975) 15 Cal.3d 481. On October 22, 2015, the Court of Appeal, in a published opinion, held the condition valid under the *Dominguez/Lent* test as reasonably related to future criminality (Opin., at pp. 17-18.) To conform to constitutional requirements, the Court of Appeal ordered the juvenile court to modify the probation condition and suggested wording that would limit searches to "text and voicemail messages, photographs, e-mails, and social-media accounts," sources the court said were "reasonably likely to reveal" Ricardo's involvement in drugs. (Opin., at p. 15.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The electronics search condition does not pass muster under the *Dominguez/Lent* test because it does not relate to Ricardo's underlying offense or to his prior offenses and is thus unrelated to future criminality. Under the *Dominguez/Lent* test, a probation condition is invalid if it "(1) has no relationship to the crime of which the offender was convicted, (2) relates to conduct which is not in itself criminal, and (3) requires or forbids conduct which is not reasonably related to future criminality." (*People v. Lent, supra,* 15 Cal.3d at p. 486.) California courts have consistently interpreted the *Dominguez/Lent* test to require a nexus between the

probation condition and the underlying offense or probationer's prior offenses for the condition to be valid as reasonably related to future criminality. This case represents the first time a California court has upheld under *Lent* an electronics search condition that has no relationship with the defendant's underlying offense or prior offenses and serves only to increase surveillance of the probationer.

The Court of Appeal erroneously expanded language in *People v*. *Olguin* (2008) 45 Cal.4th 375, which concerned a narrow issue of officer safety, to broadly validate any probation condition that could arguably facilitate supervision of the probationer even if the condition is unconnected to the probationer's underlying offense or prior offenses. The Court of Appeal's decision threatens to eviscerate the *Dominguez/Lent* test by expanding the third prong (reasonably related to future criminality) so broadly as to allow any probation condition that facilitates supervision of the probationer, no matter how intrusive or unconnected to the defendant's offense or to prior offenses.

The Court of Appeal also incorrectly invoked this Court's decision in *People v. Olguin, supra*, 45 Cal.4th 375, which involved a probation condition that did not impinge on the probationer's constitutional rights, to validate the highly intrusive electronics search condition. The Court of Appeal failed to subject the electronic search condition, which impinges on Ricardo's "precious constitutional rights," to the heightened scrutiny

required by *Lent* jurisprudence. (*People v. Bauer* (1989) 211 Cal.App.3d 937, 942.) The Court of Appeal erred in equating searches of electronic devices and digital data with physical property searches and disregarded the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Riley v. California* (2014) 134 S.Ct. 2473, 2488-2489, which made clear the substantial difference between searches of physical property and searches of digital data and electronic devices and held that the privacy concerns implicated by a search of electronic devices necessitate greater protections for users of those devices beyond those required for a search of physical property.

Furthermore, the Court of Appeal's incorrect interpretation of Olguin – allowing any probation condition that can be said to facilitate supervision of a probationer – would inevitably result in unconstitutional probation conditions. Any probation condition that increases government surveillance of a probationer could be justified on the basis that it facilitates supervision of the probationer. However, many hypothetical probation conditions that would increase surveillance of the probationer also unduly burden the probationer's constitutional rights and would not survive the heightened scrutiny required when a probation condition impinges on constitutional rights. The Court of Appeal's reasoning would render the Dominguez/Lent test not only meaningless, but also unconstitutional.

A STATE OF THE STA

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN FINDING THE ELECTRONICS SEARCH CONDITION VALID UNDER *PEOPLE V. LENT*.

The Court of Appeal erred in holding that, under *People v. Olguin*, *supra*, 45 Cal.4th 375, any probation condition that can possibly be said to facilitate supervision of the probationer is reasonably related to future criminality and thus valid under the *Dominguez/Lent* test. The court below ignored the fundamental principle of the *Dominguez/Lent* test – the existence of a nexus between the probation condition and the defendant's underlying offense or prior offenses—and departed from over forty years of *Lent* jurisprudence. Such reasoning eviscerates the *Dominguez/Lent* test by broadening the third prong (reasonably related to future criminality) so as to allow any probation condition that increases surveillance of a probationer, no matter how disconnected from the probationer's offense or background.

The Court of Appeal also erred by failing to subject the condition, which impinges on Ricardo's constitutional rights, to the heightened level of scrutiny required when constitutional rights are at issue. Thus, the Court of Appeal disregarded the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Riley v. California*, *supra*, 134 S.Ct. 2473, which articulated the need for heightened protections for searches of digital data and electronic devices.

The condition would allow law enforcement and the probation department unfettered access to intimate details of Ricardo's life and would, in effect, allow law enforcement to continually monitor his communications, locations, and associations. The Court of Appeal's decision, if allowed to stand, would open the door to the imposition of similar probation conditions in every criminal and juvenile case.

A. Factual and Procedural Background.

Ricardo's two felony violations of first-degree burglary were not drug-related, but in his conversations with the probation department, Ricardo admitted occasional marijuana use. (12/15/2014 RT 6; CT 15, 140.) The record contains no mention of any prior offenses by Ricardo, drug-related or not. However, because of his prior marijuana use, the court imposed probation conditions that included drug testing, the warrantless search of Ricardo's person and property, and an order that he stay away from known drug users. (CT 148.) The court also imposed a condition requiring him to submit to search of his electronic devices and to provide his electronics passwords to the probation department. (12/15/2014 RT 5.) Defense counsel objected to the condition, stating "the cell phone and electronics search term . . . is not reasonably related to the crime or preventing future crime." (12/15/2014 RT 5, 6.)

The juvenile court justified the electronic search condition on the

basis that some teenagers boast about their drug use on social media, and thus monitoring Ricardo's communications on social media would assist the probation department in ensuring Ricardo was not using drugs. (12/15/2014 RT 5; Opin., at pp. 3-4.) The court explained that "[T]his is appropriate for individuals who – particularly minors or people that are [appellant's] age. I find that minors typically will brag about their marijuana usage or drug usage, particularly their marijuana usage, by posting on the Internet, showing pictures of themselves with paraphernalia, or smoking marijuana. It's a very important part of being able to monitor drug usage and particularly marijuana usage." (12/15/2014 RT 6.) Because Ricardo had no prior offenses, no attempt was made to justify the electronics search condition as related to a prior offense.

On appeal, Ricardo challenged the electronics search condition as unreasonable under *Lent*, unconstitutionally overbroad, and permitting illegal eavesdropping in violation of Penal Code section 632. The Court of Appeal agreed the condition as written was unconstitutionally overbroad and struck the phrase "electronics including passwords" from the warrantless search condition. (Opin., at p. 17.) The Court of Appeal indicated that, on remand, the juvenile court could validly impose a condition requiring searches of a "narrower range of electronic information" that would be "reasonably likely to reveal whether Ricardo is boasting about his drug use . . . such as text and voicemail messages,

photographs, e-mails, and social-media accounts." (Opin., at pp. 17-18.)

Thus, while holding the condition as written overbroad, the Court of Appeal, at the same time, found the probation condition reasonable under the third prong of the *Lent* test because "the electronics search condition is reasonably related to enabling the effective supervision of Ricardo's compliance with" other probation conditions. (Opin., at p. 10.) Even though the Court of Appeal agreed with Ricardo that the condition was not related to the underlying offense, the court reasoned that "[u]nless our state Supreme Court departs from its holding in Olguin, we are bound to accept the principle that conditions reasonably related to enhancing the effective supervision of a probationer are valid under *Lent*." (Opin., at pp. 8, 10.) The Court of Appeal also expressed some "skepticism about" the juvenile court's remarks concerning the "prevalence of minors' boasting on the Internet about marijuana use," but found that that juvenile court's reliance on its belief that teenagers tend to brag about marijuana use on social media was not "outside the bounds of reason" and thus a valid basis for imposing the condition. (Opin., at p. 10.)

B. The Court of Appeal's Decision Departs From a Fundamental Principle of the *Dominguez/Lent* Test Requiring a Nexus Between the Probation Condition and the Underlying Offense or Probationer's Prior Offenses.

The Court of Appeal's reasoning in this case relies on a fundamental misunderstanding of the nature of the *Dominguez/Lent* test, developed almost fifty years ago and adopted by this Court in 1975. (*People v. Lent* (1975) 15 Cal.3d 481.) Contrary to the Court of Appeal's interpretation of *People v. Olguin*, the origins of the test and subsequent jurisprudence demonstrate the essential nature of a nexus between the probation condition and the underlying offense or probationer's prior offenses.

People v. Dominguez (1967) 256 Cal.App.2d 623, in which the Court of Appeal first articulated the three-prong test adopted by this Court in People v. Lent, supra, 15 Cal.3d 481, emphasized the requirement of a nexus between the probation condition and the probationer's underlying offense. Dominguez involved a challenge to a probation condition prohibiting the probationer, who had been convicted of second-degree robbery, from becoming pregnant while unmarried. In determining whether the probation condition was valid, the Court of Appeal first looked to the statutory requirement that probation conditions be "reasonable" that further "the end that justice may be done, that amends may be made to society for the breach of the law, for any injury done to any person

resulting from such breach and generally and specifically for the reformation and rehabilitation of the probationer." (*Id.* at p. 627, citing Cal. Pen. Code § 1203.1, subd. (j).)³ To determine the limits of the trial court's statutory authority to impose conditions of probation, the *Dominguez* court looked to several prior cases in which the courts' analysis centered on whether the disputed condition was related to the underlying offense. (*Dominguez, supra,* 256 Cal.App.2d at p. 628; see *People v. Osslo* (1958) 50 Cal.2d 75 (condition prohibiting probationer from holding a position with a union upheld where the underlying offense involved crimes stemming from union activity); *People v. Stanley* (1958) 162 Cal.App.2d 416 (condition of probation requiring defendant to refrain from having a telephone in his home or on property under his control upheld where the crime of which he was convicted was bookmaking by telephone).)

The *Dominguez* court then articulated a three-prong test: "A condition of probation which (1) has no relationship to the crime of which the offender was convicted, (2) relates to conduct which is not in itself criminal, and (3) requires or forbids conduct which is not reasonably related to future criminality does not serve the statutory ends of probation and is invalid." (*People v. Dominguez, supra, 256* Cal.App.2d at p. 627.) The

³ The *Dominguez/Lent* test is applicable to juveniles as well as adults. (*In re D.G.* (2010) 187 Cal.App.4th 47; Wel. & Inst. Code § 730, subd. (b) (authorizing the juvenile court to "make any and all reasonable orders for the conduct of the ward").)

court emphasized the requirement that the likelihood of future criminality must be connected to the underlying offense. "Appellant's future pregnancy was unrelated to robbery. . . . Appellant's future pregnancy had no reasonable relationship to future criminality." (*Id* at p. 627.) Because the probation condition was unrelated to the defendant's underlying offense or prior offenses, it could not be reasonably related to the risk of her future criminality and was thus invalid. (*Id*. at pp. 627-628.)

Shortly after *Dominguez* was decided, this Court applied the three-prong *Dominguez* test in *People v. Bushman* (1970) 1 Cal.3d 767, and *People v. Mason* (1971) 5 Cal.3d 759, and in both cases emphasized the requirement of a nexus between the condition and the underlying offense.⁴ In *Bushman*, this Court invalidated a probation condition that required the defendant to seek psychiatric treatment. (*Bushman, supra,* 1 Cal.3d at p. 777.) In concluding that the probation condition was not reasonably related to future criminality, the Court emphasized the lack of a nexus between the condition and the underlying offense: "without any showing that mental instability contributed to that offense, psychiatric care cannot reasonably be related to future criminality." (*Bushman, supra,* 1 Cal.3d at p. 777.) In *Mason, supra,* 5 Cal.3d at p. 764, this Court upheld a warrantless property search condition for a narcotics offender as reasonably related to prior

⁴ In *Bushman* and *Mason*, the Court inadvertently misstated the test as disjunctive rather than conjunctive but applied the test correctly. (See *Lent, supra,* 15 Cal.3d at p. 487, fn. 1.)

criminal conduct and thus future criminality.

This Court clarified the wording of the *Dominguez* test in *Lent*, which upheld a probation condition requiring a probationer to pay restitution related to a theft charge of which he had been acquitted. The probationer had been convicted of a separate theft charge against the same victim, and the Court reasoned that the evidence developed at the probation revocation hearing and trial supported the imposition of the condition as both related to the underlying offense of which he was convicted and, given that relationship, as a deterrent to future criminality. (*People v. Lent, supra*, 15 Cal.3d at pp. 486-487.)

Consistently over the past forty years, as this Court and the Courts of Appeal have applied the *Dominguez/Lent* test to a variety of probation conditions for both adults and juveniles, they have continued to require a nexus between the probation condition and the circumstances of the underlying offense or prior offenses in order for the probation condition to be justified as reasonably related to future criminality. In *People v. Carbajal* (1995) 10 Cal.4th 1114, this Court, applying the *Dominguez/Lent* test, found valid a probation condition requiring the probationer to pay restitution following his conviction for hit-and-run. This Court held that the condition was related to the underlying offense, even though there was no showing that the damage to the victim's parked car was caused by the defendant's criminal actions in leaving the scene of the accident. (*Id.* at p.

1119, 1124.) The Court made clear that the restitution was related to future criminality because it was related to the underlying offense. Because it forced "the defendant to accept the responsibility he attempted to evade by leaving the scene of the accident without identifying himself, the restitution condition acts both as a deterrent to future attempts to evade his legal and financial duties as a motorist and as a rehabilitative measure tailored to correct the behavior leading to his conviction." (*Id.* at p. 1124.)

Conversely, the Courts of Appeal have consistently invalidated probation conditions as not reasonably related to future criminality where the nexus between the condition and the offense or defendant's prior offenses was lacking. For example, in People v. Burton (1981) 117 Cal.App.3d 382, the court struck a probation condition that defendant refrain from consuming alcohol as not reasonably related to future criminality because the "record is completely devoid of any evidence that [defendant] had consumed alcoholic beverage[s] prior to, during, or after the assault for which he was convicted," and "the record fails to establish the requisite factual nexus between the crime, [defendant's] manifested propensities and the probation condition." (Id. at p. 390; see also People v. Petty (2013) 213 Cal.App.4th 1410, 1417 (probation condition requiring defendant to take antipsychotic medication invalid where his "long mental health history" was not reasonably related to underlying offense); In re Erica R. (2015) 240 Cal.App.4th 907, 913 (electronics search condition

invalid where underlying offense of drug possession unrelated to electronics or social media usage).)

The relationship of the probation condition to future criminality required by the *Dominguez/Lent* test must be specific to the individual defendant in order to be deemed reasonable and valid under *Lent*. Thus, in *People v. Brandão* (2012) 210 Cal.App.4th 568, the Court of Appeal found invalid a probation condition prohibiting the probationer from associating with known gang members because there was no evidence that the defendant was involved in a gang and because the underlying offense was not gang-related. (*Id.* at 576-577.) The court explained that the condition could only be reasonably related to future criminality if it was "reasonably related to a risk *that* defendant will reoffend." (*Id.* at p. 574 (emphasis added).) The court noted that "a remote, attenuated, tangential, or diaphanous connection to future criminal conduct" does not provide the requisite nexus and does not pass *Lent* muster. (*Ibid.*)

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