#### In the Supreme Court of the State of California

In re RICARDO P., a Person Coming Under the Juvenile Court Law.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

RICARDO P.,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S230923

SUPREME COURT FILED

AUG 24 2016

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

First Appellate District, Division One, Case No. A144149 Alameda County Superior Court, Case No. SJ14023676 The Honorable Leopoldo E. Dorado, Judge

#### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

reasons. The court did not suggest that only future crimes similar to past ones were properly deterred by search conditions.

In People v. Carbajal (1985) 10 Cal.4th 1114, this court again found that noncriminal behavior can be forbidden or required if the conduct is reasonably related to either the underlying crime or future criminality. (Id. at p. 1123.) This court found that a restitution order for leaving the scene of an accident not only served to compensate for loss but also to rehabilitate the defendant, and to "deter[] future criminality." (Id. at p. 1124.) While Carbajal acknowledged the direct relation between restitution for the prior harm inflicted and deterrence in that case, it did not mandate linkage between past and future criminal behavior as a necessary predicate for satisfying Lent. (Id. at pp. 1124-1125.)

Under Ricardo's view, conduct not involving criminal behavior may not be required or forbidden unless it relates to the offense of conviction (the first prong of the *Lent* test), even if the condition otherwise rationally regulates lawful conduct that implicates future criminality. That approach reduces the three-part factors test of *Lent* to a two-part test. As shown, that position is unsupported—indeed, refuted—by this court's precedent and is inconsistent with *Lent* itself. Furthermore, the limitation suggested by Ricardo would needlessly fetter trial and juvenile courts in their efforts to fashion probation conditions to guide and rehabilitate minors and adult offenders. Additionally, it could discourage the juvenile court from considering aspects of the juvenile's history that were not the basis of a juvenile adjudication as a ward, even if they suggest a need for additional conditions to promote rehabilitation and deter future misconduct of a different sort.

This case presents such a circumstance. Despite Ricardo's admission that he used marijuana and quit after his arrest in order to think clearly and thereby exercise better judgment, he contends that reliable information in

the form of his own statements to the probation officer cannot be used in the imposition of probation conditions. Presumably, any information regarding antisocial, but noncriminal, behavior also could not be used. Such a position is at war not only with *Lent* but with the goals of the juvenile justice system, as well as the statutory discretion afforded to the juvenile court to fashion such reasonable probation conditions as it may determine fitting and proper to the ward's rehabilitation. The undesirable consequences of Ricardo's position demonstrate the wisdom of *Olguin*.

Valid conditions permitting warrantless searches of a minor's person, property, and residence are common without a showing of the connection between the places to be searched and the property involved the underlying offense. (See *In re Tyrell J.*, *supra*, 8 Cal.4th at pp. 86-87; *In re Binh L.* (1992) 5 Cal.App.4th 194, 203-204.) Likewise, existing law, including *Olguin* and cases on which it relied (e.g., *People v. Kwizera* (2000) 78 Cal.App.4th 1238, 1240; *People v. Balestra*, *supra*, 76 Cal.App.4th at pp. 65-67), confirms that reasonable conditions that facilitate supervision are proper.

Cases cited by Ricardo do not support his contrary position. The courts in *In re Martinez* (1978) 86 Cal.App.3d 577, *People v. Burton* (1981) 117 Cal.App.3d 382, *In re D.G.*, *supra*, 187 Cal.App.4th 47, *People v. Brandão* (2012) 210 Cal.App.4th 568, and *People v. Petty* (2013) 213 Cal.App.4th 1410, did not require linkage between the current offense of conviction and future criminality that might be deterred or detected by a challenged probation condition. Rather, the courts found nothing in the respective defendants' backgrounds or personal history that afforded a reasonable relationship between the probation condition itself and possible future criminality. *People v. Brandão*, *supra*, 210 Cal.App.4th 568 did not discuss *Olguin* in connection with the third *Lent* factor. (*Id.* at p. 572.) *In re J.B.*, *supra*, 242 Cal.App.4th 749 inexplicably distinguished *Olguin* as

not involving a search condition. (*Id.* at pp. 757-758.) *In re Erica R.*, supra, 240 Cal.App.4th 907, and D.G., supra, 187 Cal.App.4th 47 did not cite Olguin at all. Both J.B. and Erica R. declared juvenile probation conditions cannot be as broad as an adult probation analogue, a clear departure from this court's jurisprudence that warrants disapproval. (*In re Sheena K.*, supra, 40 Cal.4th at p. 889.)

## C. Judged by These Considerations, an Electronics Search Condition Is Reasonable Under *Lent* in This Case

The juvenile court did not impose an electronics search condition to prohibit specifically defined conduct involving Ricardo's use of electronic devices. It did so instead to ensure Ricardo knows the court can effectively supervise his obedience to the conditions of probation, particularly his adherence to the drug conditions. In that manner, Ricardo knows if he backslides, it can become known to the juvenile court in time for its consideration of further corrective action needed to rehabilitate him. That purpose comes within *Olguin*, *supra*, 45 Cal.4th 375.

"In fashioning the conditions of probation, the juvenile court should consider the minor's entire social history in addition to the circumstances of the crime." (*In re R.V.* (2009) 171 Cal.App.4th 239, 246.) The juvenile court followed that principle in this case. The court noted Ricardo's history of marijuana use, citing his admission to the probation officer "that he stopped smoking marijuana after his arrest because he felt that [it] did not allow him to think clearly." (CT 140.) Based on this evidence, the court explained the purpose of the condition: "I find that minors typically will brag about their marijuana usage, or drug use, particularly their marijuana usage, by posting on the Internet, showing pictures of themselves with paraphernalia, or smoking marijuana. It's a very important part of being able to monitor drug usage and particularly marijuana usage." (12/15/2014 RT 6.) The juvenile court was permitted to infer, as it impliedly did, that a

minor like Ricardo who admits not thinking clearly when committing his offense due to the use of drugs, could share with other wards a habit of promoting or boasting about illegal drugs and drug use on electronic devices. That inference involves accepted discretion in the formulation of probation conditions, not proofs based on the facts of the offenses.

In this case, the juvenile court could reasonably conclude that an electronics search condition would address possible future criminality by Ricardo in two ways, both related to the ward's rehabilitation and the deterrence of additional crimes. First, the court imposed conditions forbidding Ricardo from associating with or contacting his confederates from the underlying burglary offenses. (CT 150.) Consequently, the challenged electronics search condition could permissibly aid in determining whether Ricardo has contacted, or attempted to contact, the persons with whom his other probation conditions prohibit contact. In this way, compliance can be monitored much more effectively, and future burglaries or other crimes can be prevented. (Cf. *People v. Ebertowski*, *supra*, 228 Cal.App.4th at p. 1175 [password probation condition permissible to implement association condition].)

Second, the juvenile court noted that "minors typically brag about their marijuana usage . . . by posting on the Internet . . ." (12/15/2014 RT 6.) Thus, the condition could assist in uncovering any subsequent marijuana possession or use, as well as deter Ricardo from arranging to purchase marijuana via his electronic devices. The very existence of the condition should deter such behavior.

Ricardo also contends that the imposition of the challenged condition was an abuse of discretion because there is no evidence in the record that he owns or has access to electronic devices. Consequently, he submits, the condition is not tailored to his circumstances. This argument is akin to an assertion that it is an abuse of discretion to prohibit a probationer from

possessing a deadly or dangerous weapon because there is no evidence that he possesses such a weapon, or to order a probationer to stay away from a victim who has moved to another state that the offender has no intention of visiting. Electronic devices are readily accessible and used routinely by minors. If Ricardo does possess any devices during his probationary period, they should be subject to inspection to ensure compliance with the other conditions of probation and to prevent future criminality.

#### D. Ricardo's Additional Arguments Lack Merit

Ricardo argues from *People v. Brandão*, *supra*, 210 Cal.App.4th at page 574, that "[n]ot every probation condition bearing a remote, attenuated, tangential, or diaphanous connection to future criminal conduct can be considered reasonable." (AOBM 19; see also *In re Erica R.*, *supra*, 240 Cal.App.4th at p. 913.) Ricardo does not explain how the connection between an electronics search condition and future criminality is too remote or attenuated. He makes no comparable argument regarding searches of his home or other property. As explained, the ability to search his electronic devices will enable the probation officer to determine if Ricardo has contacted his coparticipants and is at risk of slipping back into criminal ways, or if he has attempted to buy marijuana or other drugs with the aid of those devices, or if he has communicated about drug- or crime-related activities in social media.

Ricardo argues that this view of future criminality is so expansive that it would justify any probation condition, no matter how oppressive.

(AOBM 27.) He paints with too broad a brush. A juvenile court does not impose probation conditions in a vacuum. It considers the offenses, both current and previous, charged and uncharged. It also considers the minor's background and history—e.g., the minor's educational needs, family issues, community support or lack thereof, and medical or psychological problems. After such evaluations, a court may find an electronics search condition that

may be essential to rehabilitate and deter one ward would not contribute to the reformatory and deterrent objectives of the conditions of probation applying to another ward. (*In re J.E., supra*, 1 Cal.App.5th at p. \_\_ [205 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. \_\_] ["whether a probation condition is reasonably related to a specific minor's future criminality is necessarily intertwined with the facts and circumstances surrounding the minor in question"].) And, of course, the condition must be reasonable. (Welf. & Inst. Code, § 730, subd. (b).) Arbitrary or excessive conditions do not pass this threshold requirement. These limitations on a court's discretion to restrict a juvenile ward will preclude the imposition of the conditions suggested by Ricardo's parade of horribles. (See AOBM 27.)

Second, probation conditions are informed and constrained by constitutional prohibitions against overbreadth and vagueness. (*In re Sheena K.*, *supra*, 40 Cal.4th at p. 890.) Ricardo's hypothetical probation conditions would probably violate one or both of those prohibitions. For these reasons, Ricardo's attempt to equate a targeted electronics search condition with blanket authorization for around the clock surveillance in every case is an untenable view of *Lent*.<sup>3</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In an appropriate case, continuous surveillance through the use of a GPS-enabled ankle bracelet may very well be an appropriate condition of probation, particularly when the alternative is incarceration where continuous monitoring is not only the norm, but just one of many onerous restrictions. (See *In re R.V.*, *supra*, 171 Cal.App.4th at pp. 247, 249 [holding, in light of "the history of R.V.'s violations of the Penal Code and of the conditions of his probation, the GPS monitoring condition was both reasonably related to his past behavior and likely to deter future criminality," and observing that "the GPS monitoring condition [was] a less harsh alternative to an out-of-home placement at a juvenile camp, which certainly would have been within the court's authority"]; see also Pen. Code, § 1210.7 et seq. [providing statutory authorization for continuous electronic monitoring of probationers].)

Third, checks on actual and potential abuses of a search condition exist. That a suspicionless search condition is reasonable at inception does not mean an ensuing search is necessarily constitutionally reasonable. (See People v. Reyes (1998) 19 Cal.4th 743, 753-754 [parole search could be unreasonable if performed too often or done in a way that is arbitrary of oppressive].) Likewise, a condition that does not facilitate the probationary purpose of a search and that dilutes its rehabilitative and deterrent objectives—such as a condition specifically authorizing a search, even if arbitrary or undertaken for the purpose of harassment of the ward or in ignorance of the condition—would fail under Lent as a mode of regulating conduct not reasonably related to future criminality. (See People v. Sanders (2003) 31 Cal.4th 318, 333 ["if an officer is unaware that a suspect is on probation and subject to a search condition, the search is not justified by the state's interest in supervising probationers or by the concern that probationers are more likely to commit criminal acts"]; People v. Robles (2000) 23 Cal.4th 789, 799 ["Many law-abiding citizens might choose not to open their homes to probationers if doing so were to result in the validation of arbitrary police action. If increased numbers of probationers were not welcome in homes with supportive environments, higher recidivism rates and a corresponding decrease in public safety may be expected, both of which would detract from the 'optimum successful functioning' of the probation system"]; cf. People v. Hoeninghaus (2004) 120 Cal.App.4th 1180, 1196-1197 [dicta stating that the "view that a probationer could be required, in effect, to waive advance knowledge [would] be against public policy in that it would substantially degrade the deterrent effect of the exclusionary rule and jeopardize the Fourth Amendment rights of nonprobationers"].)

Finally as a practical matter, it is doubtful that the electronic devices of wards will be inspected with any regularity given the scarcity of supervisory resources.

In sum, the juvenile court acted well within its broad discretion in concluding that a condition authorizing the search of Ricardo's electronic devices could help his probation officer discover information relating to future illegal activity and by its very existence discourage such activity. That court could reasonably conclude the search condition was needed to both rehabilitate Ricardo and deter him from further offenses. The Court of Appeal properly upheld the electronics search condition under *Lent*.

II. THE FOURTH AMENDMENT CLAIM IS NOT PROPERLY BEFORE THE COURT, AND AN ELECTRONICS SEARCH CONDITION WOULD NOT CONSTITUTE A FACIALLY UNREASONABLE IMPINGEMENT ON RICARDO'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS AS A JUVENILE WARD

Ricardo contends that the electronics search condition violates his right to be free of unreasonable searches and seizures. (AOBM 28-34.) He argues *Riley v. California*, *supra*, 573 U.S. \_\_\_ [134 S.Ct. 2473] forces a reexamination of such search conditions. His constitutional claim is beyond the scope of the questions presented for review and also premature. The record is insufficient until the juvenile court actually decides how an electronics search condition should be formulated to be responsive to Ricardo's rehabilitation and to public safety. On the merits, *Riley* does not forbid, by holding or inference, a warrantless search of a juvenile ward's electronic devices during a term of supervised probation.

## A. The Constitutional Issue Is Beyond the Scope of Review and Premature; Nor Is the Record Sufficient

This court "may decide any issues that are raised or fairly included in the petition or answer." (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.516(b)(1).) Ricardo's petition for review presented two state law issues, both of which were

expressly limited to claims under *Lent*.<sup>4</sup> Respondent file an answer that reformulated those claims into a single question of statutory reasonableness.<sup>5</sup> Accordingly, Ricardo's constitutional claim is not raised or fairly included in the questions on review.

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